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Foreword

I joined OIOS in 2011.  It was generally accepted at that time that while there had been a serious 
problems of 'sexual exploitation and abuse' (“SEA”) in the UN in the past, this had been addressed and 
it was no longer as significant as it had been previously.

As time went on, I came to suspect this was not the case. 

Informal discussions with a number of individuals - both inside and outside the Organization - 
indicated to me that there were large numbers of children in Haiti, described locally as “MINUSTAH 
babies” that the UN chose not to recognise existed.

By comparison, when the press showed an interest in the subject of sexual abuses in UN mission 
environments, they seemed to have little difficulty in finding women who were not only prepared to 
admit that they had been violently raped by UN personnel, they were prepared to do so in front of 
television cameras.

I also found the UN to be curiously blind to the reality that only a minority of sexual offences would 
ever be reported, but as time progressed, it became increasingly obvious to me that the Organization's 
strategy was to actively filter these complaints, and that this was being done in order to manipulate the 
statistics so that the obligatory annual reports on the subject to the General Assembly would 
misrepresent the scale of the problem.1

In contrast to the rhetoric, the Organization's attitude towards sexual offences was revealed publicly in 
March 2015. At that time the High Commissioner for Human Rights – the architect of the 
Organization's strategy2 for the elimination of SEA – exhibited an astonishing lack of judgement. 
Unconcerned with the ongoing sexual abuse of children in the Central African Republic, instead he 
showed himself to be obsessed with taking punitive action against the official who took action to stop 
it; accusing him – improperly – of  “leaking confidential information” by so doing.

The High Commissioner's perverse priorities were not an anomaly. None of the other members of Ban 
Ki Moon's Senior Management Group showed any concern for the victims either. None recognised that
they might have a moral obligation to stop the abuse. On the contrary, the Under-Secretary-General for 
Peacekeeping, the Ethics Director, the Under-Secretary-General for Oversight and Ban's his Chief of 
Staff were all complicit in persecuting the one official who took the only action available to the UN to 
stop the abuse.3

The UN's mishandling of the sex abuse in the Central African Republic gave rise to a considerable 
amount of press attention, which resulted in numerous allegations being reported throughout 2015.

1 The Secretary-General is required “to maintain data on investigations into sexual exploitation and related offences” but 
if a sex crime complaint can be dismissed at the assessment stage, there will be no investigation and the allegation will 
not be added to the number reported to the General Assembly.  (See A/Res/57/306. Para 10. Online at: 
http://www.un.org/Docs/journal/asp/ws.asp?m=A/RES/57/306)

2 'A comprehensive strategy to eliminate future sexual exploitation and abuse in United Nations peacekeeping operations.'
UN document #A/59/710 dated 24 March 2005 . Online at: http://daccess-ods.un.org/access.nsf/Get? 
Open&DS=A/59/710&Lang=E 

3 Code Blue Campaign; “The UN'S Dirty Secret: The untold story of Anders Kompass and Peacekeeper Sex Abuse in the
Central African Republic.” Online at: http://www.codebluecampaign.com/carstatement/
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In March 2016 – a year after the initial scandal – another NGO reported allegations of what were an 
initial 98 rape cases – the majority of which involved children - to UNICEF, thus triggering yet another 
child sex abuse scandal in the MINUSCA mission. 

Although the perpetrators were all military peacekeepers who were subject to the jurisdiction of their 
respective armed forces; OIOS was involved in the investigations.

Rumours that an internal review of the Dekoa investigations had been conducted by one of my former 
colleagues in OIOS/ID had been circulating for some time, but the report itself “the review document” 
was never known to have been circulated. It was clearly being guarded very closely, for reasons that are
now obvious. Despite being told the review had been ordered to identify lessons to be learned, it was 
even withheld from OIOS/ID supervisors who had had management roles in the investigation.

Existence of the review document was confirmed in an article by 'New Humanitarian' journalist Philip 
Kleinfeld in July 2018 when OIOS Investigations Director Ben Swanson alluded to its critical content 
when describing it as 'dirty laundry' that he wished (now quite understandably) to keep confidential.4 

It is not known if the review document had earlier been provided to the Heidi Mendoza, the Under-
Secretary-General, OIOS, but if it had not, it would have been negligent of her – or in her absence, 
Assistant-Secretary-General David Kanja – to have demanded sight of it immediately after publication 
of the 'New Humanitarian' article. 

After having mentioned the existence of the review when testifying before a Congressional Committee 
in April 2019, I was able to acquire a copy from a confidential source in September 2019 whose 
reliability I was established by reference to other matters.

The investigations resulted in two OIOS 'Contingent Reports', on OIOS Investigations Division case 
numbers 0203/16 and 0204/16. These will have been delivered to the Permanent Missions of Burundi 
and Gabon. I have not seen either.

 
Peter A Gallo

 25 October 2019

4 Philip Kleinfeld “Special report on the Central African Republic, Part 3. ‘I have no power to complain” The New 
Humanitarian. 25 July 2018. Online at: https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/special-report/2018/07/25/central-african-
republic-peacekeeper-sexual-abuse-investigation 
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Commentary on OIOS Review of Dekoa Investigations 

The Allegations 
1. On 30 March 2016, the Code Blue Campaign (an NGO dedicated to working to end impunity for

sexual abuse by UN personnel) issued a Press Release about how 98 girls in the Dekoa  region of
the Central African Republic had been interviewed by UNICEF and reported that they had been
sexually abused by international peacekeepers.

2. Code Blue further claimed that on Saturday 26 March 2016, the Deputy Special Representative
of the Secretary-General and a delegation from MINUSCA had met with local civic leaders and
victims and learned of numerous allegations of sexual abuse, including:

 “During that visit, three victims interviewed by a MINUSCA Human Rights Officer reported 
that in 2014, they and a fourth girl were tied up and undressed inside a camp by a military 
commander from the Sangaris force (the French military intervention in CAR) and forced to 
have sex with a dog. Each girl was then given 5000 Central African Francs (<USD $9). The 
three girls interviewed sought basic medical treatment. The fourth girl later died of an 
unknown disease. One of the survivors said that she was called “the Sangaris’ dog” by 
people in the community.

 A women’s association informed the MINUSCA delegation that many cases of sexual abuse
and rape have been committed by international peacekeeping forces and CAR combatants.”1

3. In a Press Release the following day, the Secretary-General claimed to be ‘shocked to the core’
by these latest revelations, but carefully avoided describing the abuses with the word 'sexual.'2

4. Ban Ki Moon was clearly even less willing to acknowledge that his own senior staff knew that
large numbers of rapes in that mission were entirely foreseeable. The UN had (for reasons that
have never been investigated) insisted on deploying poorly disclipined troops, who were known
to have a bad record for human rights abuses in their home country, in a peacekeeping role there.3

Initial Response to the Information
5. The UN was first alerted to the allegations of sexual misconduct in  January 2016 when the

NGO 'the  International  Rescue  Committee'4 informed  UNICEF that  they  had  received  such
allegations  implicating  both  French  troops  deployed  on  the  'Sangaris'  operation5 and  UN

1 Code Blue Campaign Press release. 'Shocking new reports of peacekeeper sexual abuse in the Central African Republic'  
30 March 2016. Online at: http://www.codebluecampaign.com/press-releases/2016/3/30

2 UN Press Release: ‘Shocked to the Core’ by Latest Abuse Allegations in Central African Republic, Secretary-General 
Pledges to Relentlessly Confront Scourge, Aid Victims. Ref SG/SM/17643-AFR/3355-PKO/569.  31 March 2016. Online
at:https://www.un.org/press/en/2016/sgsm17643.doc.htm 

3 Former ASG Anthony Banbury 'I love the UN, but it is failing' New York Times, Sunday Review. 18 March 2016 Online 
at: http://www.nytimes.com/2016/03/20/opinion/sunday/i-love-the-un-but-it-is-failing.html

4 https://www.rescue.org/ 
5 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Operation_Sangaris 
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Commentary on OIOS Review of Dekoa Investigations 

peacekeepers from Burundi.6

6. This was a repetition of very similar allegations that had been brought to the attention of the
MINUSCA mission in May 20147; the mismanagement of which had provoked a firestorm of
outrage from the international press

7. This was an extraordinary time for the UN in general and the MINUSCA mission in particular.
The  Secretary-General  taken  the  “unprecedented”  step  of  removing  the  previous  Head  of
Mission8 after further allegations of sexual misconduct by peacekeeping personnel came to light,
but still more cases continued to be reported9 and a new SRSG had just been appointed on 7
January.10

8. These latest allegations of sexual misconduct by UN personnel in the Central African Republic
came only a few weeks after the report  of the 'Report of  an Independent  Review on Sexual
Exploitation and Abuse by International Peacekeeping Forces in the Central African Republic'
had been published by the Deschamps Enquiry.11 Moreover, the 'whistleblower' that the UN had
tried so hard – and so improperly - to persecute for passing the  information about those initial
allegations to the appropriate French authorities back in May 2014 had been cleared of any
wrongdoing by OIOS.12

9. Conscious of the serious PR implications of the slightest mis-step, the new SRSG was trying
hard to be seen as a man ready to take decisive action in response to any further allegations of
sexual misconduct.13

10. It was clearly a time of heightened awareness for all concerned, and for the UN, it was the worst
possible time for a hundred new cases to be reported.

11. Nevertheless, at that point in January 2016 when the IRC informed UNICEF of the allegations

6 Confidential Dekoa Report (First Draft) attached at Annex A. Para 14
7 See Code Blue Campaign. 'The UN'S Dirty Secret: the untold story of Anders Kompass and peacekeeper sex abuse in the

Central African Republic. 29 May 2015. Online at: http://www.codebluecampaign.com/carstatement 
8 Carole Landry. AFP. 'UN chief sacks C.Africa mission head over peacekeeper sex abuse claims.  13 August 2015. Online 

at: https://news.yahoo.com/un-chief-sacks-c-africa-mission-head-over-160032771.html 
9 MINUSCA Press Release. 'MINUSCA investigates sexual exploitation and abuse allegations.11 November 2015. Online 

at: https://minusca.unmissions.org/en/minusca-investigates-sexual-exploitation-and-abuse-allegations 
10 UN Press Release. Secretary-General Appoints Parfait Onanga-Anyanga of Gabon Special Representative for Central 

African Republic. Ref: G/A/1624*-BIO/4804*-PKO/554* dated 7 January 2016. Online at: 
https://www.un.org/press/en/2016/sga1624.doc.htm

11 ‘Taking Action on Sexual Exploitation and Abuse by Peacekeepers; Report of an Independent Review on Sexual 
Exploitation and Abuse by International Peacekeeping Forces in the Central African Republic.’ December 2015. Online 
at: http://www.un.org/News/dh/infocus/centafricrepub/Independent-Review- Report.pdf 

12 Colum Lynch.  'The U.N. Official Who Blew the Lid off Central African Republic Sex Scandal Vindicated' Foreign 
Policy, 17 December 2015. Online at: https://foreignpolicy.com/2015/12/17/the-u-n-official-who-blew-the-lid-on-central-
african-republic-sex-scandal-vindicated/ 

13 AFP. 'UN mission chief vows tough action on C.Africa sex abuse claims' 6 January 2016. Online at: 
https://news.yahoo.com/un-mission-chief-vows-tough-action-c-africa-185636041.html 
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against  French military personnel and UN peacekeepers; one thing was already clear and that is
that UNICEF had no jurisdiction to investigate either. 

12. One would expect, therefore, that the sensible thing for UNICEF to have done would be to report
this to the Head of Mission without delay, and let the Organization move swiftly to avoid a
repetition of the mistakes made before – so both the French and Burundian governments could be
informed through the proper diplomatic channels as quickly as possible. This does not appear to
have been done.  Instead, UNICEF waited until February when they sent one person to Dekoa to
carry out an assessment. She interviewed 80 possible victims of sex crimes.14  

13. On the one hand, this person could be commended for trying to collect as much information as
possible so senior management could make the most informed decision on how to deal with the
crisis – but at the same time, it  should have been very obvious to them that  unless any UN
civilian staff were implicated in any of these crimes; the UN had no jurisdiction to investigate.
This was going to be a matter for the French and Burundian authorities.

14. In addition, it was clear from February 2016 that this was a potentially even larger scale scandal
than had been exposed the previous year, and it was worse because it would expose as a patent
lie all the assurances the UN had given the world about their commitment to stamping out sexual
misconduct.

15. The Head of the MINUSCA mission was not even informed until 23 March 2016, when he was
told that there were allegations of “a staggering number” of sex crimes by peacekeepers in the
Dekoa area in 2014 and 201515 (i.e. the period when MINUSCA had been scrutinised by the
international media.

16. Again, with the information that UNICEF was able to provide at that time, the Head of Mission
should have realised that the UN had no jurisdiction over the alleged perpetrators, so the most
expedient and pragmatic course of action would have been for the Organization to have played
'pass the parcel' and alerted the French and Burundian authorities.  

17. Instead, the UNICEF Representative in Bangui - who had been sitting on this information for at
least  two months already -  insisted that  “more information was required” before taking any
action and recommended that “a verification mission to substantiate the allegations and assess
the capacity of response on the ground should be conducted jointly by UNICEF, MINUSCA, and
other UN Agencies.”16

18. UNICEF had already had nearly three months to collect the information that was required and
had clearly not done it very well. What benefit a further “verification mission” would serve is not

14 Annex A. Para 15.
15 Annex A. Para 16
16 Annex A. Para 16
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entirely clear.

19. OIOS/ID also had a Chief Resident Investigator deployed to the MINUSCA mission. One would
have thought that it would have made sense to involve him immediately – but that was not done
either. 

20. To  his  credit,  however,  the  Head  of  Mission  did  issue  a  Press  Release  two  days  later  -
conveniently overlooking the question of why UNICEF had not done this already - stating that an
integrated team was being sent (i.e. future tense) to gather and preserve available evidence. 17

21. That  Press  Release  specifically  stated  that  the  team would  include  OIOS -  but  OIOS knew
nothing about it and had never been consulted. The OIOS Investigations Director in New York
learned from his Investigator in the MINUSCA mission on 28 March that although he knew that
meetings and briefings had been held to discuss the allegations, he himself had not been involved
in the matter.18 

22. This raises three important questions:

1. Why did UNICEF and others in senior management in the MINUSCA mission exclude
the  representative  from  the  only  office  with  jurisdiction  to  even  participate  in  any
investigation, from the 'verification mission' announced in the press release of 25 March?

2. When exactly did the Chief Resident investigator learn of these allegations and why did
he not inform his superiors in New York immediately? 

   and most importantly:

3. What did UNICEF think they could do to investigate the allegations?  

23. UNICEF had known about the abuses for  two months already and while the MINUSCA press
Release of 25 March had referred to “sexual exploitation and abuse both by UN and non-UN
forces and civilians in the Kemo prefecture”19  there does not appear to have been any suggestion
of UN civilian personnel being involved. 

24. More importantly,  UNICEF has no jurisdiction to investigate peacekeeping troops; there is no
legal framework for them to do so. The only action they could take was to refer the matter to
OIOS, and the MOU signed by Troop Contributing Countries gave the UN no discretion in the
matter either; it is primarily a matter for the Troop Contributing Country.

25. The first priority for OIOS, of course, was to understand what had happened, and that simply

17 MINUSCA Press Release. 'UN send integrated team to investigate new SEA allegations in Kemo and reiterate 
commitment to sanction any perpetrator' 25 Mar 2016. Online at: https://minusca.unmissions.org/en/un-send-integrated-
team-investigate-new-sea-allegations-kemo-and-reiterate-committment-sanction-any  

18 Annex A. Para 25
19 MINUSCA Press Release. 25 Mar 2016. supra  
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involved UNICEF sharing everything they had collected; they do not appear to have even been
able to do that very well.

26. Even at that stage however, if the allegations all related to troops who had since been rotated out
of the Mission; it  was therefore apparent that there should have been no immediate need for
urgency; if all of the individuals accused of these offences were out of the country already, they
would have had very limited ability to interfere with witnesses or compromise the investigations.

27. When the OIOS Investigations Director discussed the matter with Ms. Mercedes Gervilla, the
CDU Chief, (and wife of OIOS Deputy Director Michael Dudley) on 28 March, she also agreed
it was necessary to collect more information before taking action. The report quotes her e-mail:
“...let us see what UNICEF has and then review it carefully for follow-up, namely assess and
verify  and  determine  credibility,  and  from  there,  as  appropriate  notify  Member  states  or
undertake investigations ourselves.”20

28. This indicates some prudence rather that acting prematurely on the information already available,
but it also and appears to suggest that there might be some discretion in how these allegations
should be investigated.  This is not the case. The UN's standard 'Memorandum of Understanding'
is clear and primary responsibility for investigating misconduct by military personnel lies with
the  Troop Contributing  Country.  Those  national  authorities  may ask  the  UN to  assist  or  to
participate in their investigation, but the choice lies with them.21

29. There were only two possible scenarios here, either 

1. there  was sufficient information or evidence to support a reasonable belief that misconduct
has actually occurred,  - in which case the UN would have to notify the TCC and let them
proceed to investigate their own personnel, or

2. there was insufficient information to support such a determination, so the UN could inform
the TCCs that it did not appear to be possible to take any further action.22

30. By that time, UNICEF had conducted  96 interviews.23 That number of interviews alone must
eliminate  the  possibility  that  there  might  not  be  sufficient  grounds  to  initiate  a  formal
investigation, but still; none of those interviews appear to have implicated UN civilian personnel;

20 Annex A. Para 24
21 Annex A. Para 123
22 If UN missions have the discretion to assess complaints against military personnel and then dismiss those complaints on 

the basis of the conduct did not appear to be a prima facie violation of any UN regulations so they do not refer the matter 
to the TCC; those military authorities are denied the opportunity to discipline their own troops for violations of military 
law of which the UN is entirely unaware. Moreover, the UN would have no grounds to object to the deployment of those 
individuals on future peacekeeping missions. The UN is not, and can never be, in a position to make disciplinary 
decisions relating to individuals on peacekeeping duties; any allegations must logically be referred to the TCC for them 
to carry out their own assessment of the matter.  

23 Annex A. Para 23
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this was always going to be a matter in which the Troop Contributing Countries were going to
have the initiative.  

31. In summary therefore, what appears to have happened here is that on becoming aware of the
allegations, UNICEF spent over two months assessing the information before sharing it with the
Head of the Mission, who agreed they needed more information deciding what to do about it, so
he  accepted  UNICEF's   recommendation  that  he  order  a  'verification  mission'  to  do  more
assessing. 

32. On learning what had happened, the OIOS Investigations Director immediately ordered his Chief
Resident Investigator on the ground to get the necessary information from UNICEF. 

The Senior Level Meeting

33. On Tuesday 29 March, having been made aware of what UNICEF had found; Ban Ki-moon’s
Chef de Cabinet, Mr. Edmond Mulet called an emergency meeting of what were described  “all
Senior-Level actors”, including:

 Mr. Anthony Lake, Executive Director of UNICEF;  

 Ms.  Jane  Holl  Lute,  Special  Coordinator  on Improving the UNs Response to  Sexual
Exploitation and Abuse;24 

 Mr. Miguel de Serpa Soares, Legal Affairs and Legal Counsel,25 and

 Mr. Atul Khare,  Assistant Secretary-General for Field Support. 

34. The OIOS Investigations Director was aware of the allegations,  but  was not  included in the
meeting. 

35. The  MINUSCA mission had only learned of the allegations on Wednesday 23 March26 and had
rushed a team from various offices and agencies to Dekoa on Saturday 26 March.27  This meeting
- not unreasonably - wanted more information to assess the situation and requested that the best
available detailed information be provided to them “to inform the Spokesperson” by close of

24 Ms. Lute had only been appointed as 'Special Coordinator on improving the United Nations response to sexual 
exploitation and abuse' in February 2016. This would therefore have been her first opportunity to demonstrate what could
and should be done.  She had earlier been tasked with convening a “high-level task force to develop as a matter of 
urgency, a clear, game-changing strategy to achieve visible and measurable further improvement in the Organisation’s 
approach to preventing and responding to sexual exploitation and abuse”.  For reasons that are not known, however, that 
Task Force however, did not include representation from OIOS or any other investigative body. (See 
https://www.un.org/preventing-sexual-exploitation-and-abuse/content/un-special-coordinator-0 )

25 Mr. Soares had earlier been responsible for the legal advice that stated how UN staff - because of their “immunity” - 
could not co-operate with French investigators (See http://www.codebluecampaign.com/carstatement/) Whether he drew 
the meetings attention to the fact that the UN had no jurisdiction here and that this was primarily a matter for the TCCs is 
not known. 

26 Annex A. Para 16
27 Annex A. Para 18
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business the next day; Wednesday 30 March.

36. Whether  or  not  Mr.  Lake was called to  account  for  UNICEF not  already having all  of  this
information is not known. Nor is it known if the meeting demanded an explanation for why they
had taken so long to pass it on. 

37. In any event, if the documents leaked to Code Blue Campaign are an accurate reflection of what
was discussed at that  meeting, it shows the Meeting was more concerned with social support for
the  victims  rather  than  identifying  perpetrators  who  should  be  disciplined.   It  also  shows,
unfortunately,  a  confused  and  extraordinarily  cumbersome  approach  to  any  problem  as  is
common in the UN; but on this occasion they conflated the needs of the investigation with the
desire to provide support to the victims.

38. With regard to the investigation of  these allegations,  in the first  place the meeting does not
appear to have given much consideration to the fact that there were no allegations against UN
civilian staff.

39. The meeting was apparently told that “Integrated/multidisciplinary assessment teams including
Office  of  Internal  Oversight  Services  investigators  as  well  as  UN  staff  members  from
MINUSCA’s Human Rights Office, UNICEF, and the UN Population Fund, have been sent (i.e.
past tense)  to investigate in affected remote areas of CAR”, and  that “additional members  to
support urgent investigations are being dispatched in the coming days.” (emphasis added) This
was not correct. OIOS investigators had not been included.

40. While this may have satisfied the need to be seen to be doing something: the only thing that any
UN personnel could do at that stage was take more statements, which is something that UNICEF
had clearly not done very well in nearly three months since they had learned of the allegations
from 'International Rescue.' 

41. Moreover,  while a degree of  panic may be understandable,  it  showed a lack of management
direction. The allegations all dated from 2014 and 2015, and were all against Burundian and
Gabonese military personnel who – even if UN staff had the authority to interview them – were
believed to have completed their deployments and returned to their home countries.  

42. Assurances that investigators were being sent into the field were premature. This was a matter for
the  Burundian and Gabonese military authorities,  neither  of  whom had even been formally
notified of the allegations yet: Notes Verbale were only delivered to the Permanent Missions of
the Republic of Burundi and Gabon on 30 March to inform them of the allegations against their
respective military personnel.28 

43. The only thing the UN could do was to interview possible victims, distributing aid and assuring

28 Annex A. Para 28.
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them that  more support  would be forthcoming.  To that  end, Assistant Secretary-General  for
Field Support Atul Khare is reported to have instructed “that MINUSCA funds can be used for
victim assistance where necessary,  including transportation,  medical  support  and emergency
psycho-social care.”29 

44. There was of course a need for social and medical support, but that should at least have been
started by UNICEF three months earlier. 

45. With regard to the investigation of these allegations, in the first  place, the meeting does not
appear to have realised that the allegations were for the TCCs rather than the UN to investigate. 

46. When convenient, and when fielding questions about misconduct by civilian personnel in field
missions; the UN is adept at shifting the blame for any inaction on to the TCCs, and excusing
themselves on the grounds that they have no jurisdiction to investigate peacekeeping troops. Here
however, there appears to have been such a need to be  doing something that jurisdiction was
entirely overlooked. 

47. The result of MINUSCA's initial “fact-finding” visit to Dekoa was more confusion. Investigators
arriving  in  the  Mission  several  months  after  the  investigation  had  begun  reported  the
management of the information gathered to date was still unsatisfactory.30

Assessment   of Allegations

48. One of the peculiar features of the UN's approach to allegations of sexual exploitation and abuse
in field missions is the practice of first carrying out an assessment to establish whether there is
sufficient information or evidence to support a reasonable belief that misconduct has actually
occurred, so that a formal investigation is warranted.

49. There  is  nothing  inherently  wrong  with  assessing  every  matter  that  is  reported  as  possible
misconduct. No investigative  body anywhere can reasonable be expected to investigate every
complaint received.  

50. What is peculiar about the UN, however, is that these assessments are not carried out by the
(supposedly) independent investigative agency who would, in any other environment, be the final
arbiter of whether or not they believed they could make a case out of the evidence in front of
them. In the UN, this is done by the Organization itself. As such, there is no oversight or public
scrutiny of  matters  reported to  them that  they elect  not  to  pursue,  so information about  the
number of complaints dismissed at the assessment stage is withheld from the General Assembly.

51. Given the fact that large numbers of SEA investigations would reflect badly on the Organization

29 Code Blue Campaign Press release. 'Shocking new reports of peacekeeper sexual abuse in the Central African Republic'  
30 March 2016. Online at: http://www.codebluecampaign.com/press-releases/2016/3/30

30 Annex A. Para 40, sub-paras [A] to [D].
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itself, there is clearly an incentive for Missions to dismiss as many complaints as possible, for
whatever reason that staff there can offer.31 

Unintended Consequences of Financial Support

52. In the rush to be seen to doing something and their willingness to spend money, it appears likely
that the UN sowed the seeds of the factor they later tried to rely on to discredit the victims. 

53. As soon as it became known that the UN was offering financial support, it would have been quite
foreseeable  that  some  in  the  local  community,  including the  individual  identified  as  Gerard
Moussa32 and probably others – would see this as a business opportunity.  

54. In October 2016 – when the investigations were still ongoing – the Reuters news agency reported
that  leaked memo by Mercedes Gervilla,  the head of  the  Conduct  and Discipline Unit,  was
briefing her superiors on the conduct of the OIOS investigation, with particular reference to how
many  of  the  complaints  appear  to  have  been  contrived.  Quite  apart  from  the  breach  of
confidentiality, in that OIOS should not have been discussing the progress of the investigation
with her, Gervilla's33 efforts to  discredit many of the victims; has to be described - at best - as
duplicitous.34  

55. What  is  curious  is  the  suggestion  that  Moussa's  activities  in  soliciting  complaints,  while
apparently known to the MINUSCA mission -  seems to have been withheld from the OIOS
investigators, making it difficult to assess the credibility of witnesses and introducing an element
of subconscious prejudice as  all of the complaints may have been (improperly) assumed to be
financially motivated.35 

56. It is unlikely that Mr. Khare was conscious of the risk that financial support might compromise
the investigations when he made the decision at the meeting on  29 March when he said that
mission funds could be spent. There is no evidence that the meeting even considered the need for
an investigation, but the risk of fraudulent claims should always have been foreseeable. This risk
only underscores the need for a high level of skill and  a degree of sophistication on the part of
the investigators; it should never be cited to discredit genuine victims. 

31 This explains the complete absence, on the UN Conduct & Discipline website (https://conduct.unmissions.org/table-of-
allegations) of any allegations where the assailant is described as “unknown.”  This implies that either (a) absolutely 
every rape victim in the UN system can always positively identify their attacker, or (b) the UN will not investigate a case 
where the victim cannot do so.

32 Annex A.  Para 104
33 Gervilla is the wife of OIOS Deputy Director Michael Dudley. The relationship between OIOS and CDU is clearly not 

one of any arms length distance.  
34 Reuters. 'U.N. memo casts doubt on some Central African sex abuse accusations'  Tim Cocks, Michelle Nichols & 

Marine Pennetier. 11 October 2016. Online at: http://www.reuters.com/article/us-centralafrica-un-crime-exclusive-
idUSKCN12B268

35 Annex A. Paras 49 and 113.

Page 9 of 26

Commentary on OIOS Review of Dekoa Investigations 

itself, there is clearly an incentive for Missions to dismiss as many complaints as possible, for
whatever reason that staff there can offer.31 

Unintended Consequences of Financial Support

52. In the rush to be seen to doing something and their willingness to spend money, it appears likely
that the UN sowed the seeds of the factor they later tried to rely on to discredit the victims. 

53. As soon as it became known that the UN was offering financial support, it would have been quite
foreseeable  that  some  in  the  local  community,  including the  individual  identified  as  Gerard
Moussa32 and probably others – would see this as a business opportunity.  

54. In October 2016 – when the investigations were still ongoing – the Reuters news agency reported
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with her, Gervilla's33 efforts to  discredit many of the victims; has to be described - at best - as
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32 Annex A.  Para 104
33 Gervilla is the wife of OIOS Deputy Director Michael Dudley. The relationship between OIOS and CDU is clearly not 

one of any arms length distance.  
34 Reuters. 'U.N. memo casts doubt on some Central African sex abuse accusations'  Tim Cocks, Michelle Nichols & 

Marine Pennetier. 11 October 2016. Online at: http://www.reuters.com/article/us-centralafrica-un-crime-exclusive-
idUSKCN12B268

35 Annex A. Paras 49 and 113.
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Identification of the Dekoa Investigations
57. The  first  challenge  here  was  identifying  the  Dekoa  investigations  from  all  the  other SEA

investigations going on in the MINUSCA mission that year. 

58. OIOS  reports  are  not  consistent.   The  normal  practice  is  that  one  report  should  relate  to
misconduct by one individual, but there have been instances where multiple allegations against
the same individual were investigated as separate cases rather than as a pattern of behaviour.  In
addition,  in  the  case  of  civilian  staff  members,  OIOS differentiates  an  'investigation  report'
(meaning an investigation that  found “possible  misconduct”)36 from a 'closure report'  (where
no“possible misconduct” was found).

59. Contingent  reports  need  not  follow that  same  practice.  In  the  first  instance,  all  subsequent
disciplinary decisions are taken by the TCC not the UN, but more significantly, all reports are
called “Contingent Reports” whether or not the initial allegation is established, making it very
difficult to determine how many of these investigations were actually successful. 

60. In addition, military law being peculiar in many respects, the code of military justice of many
armed forces includes a general catch-all provision, such as the offence of “conduct prejudicial to
good order and military discipline” - cunningly worded to encompass a multitude of sins!  It is
therefore possible for an investigation into an alleged rape to result in a soldier being disciplined
for a lesser offence, such as being late on parade in the morning or out of barracks without
permission. 

61. In the Dekoa situation,  OIOS issued reports  against  multiple  subjects,  making it  difficult  to
establish the total number of soldiers actually investigated for sexual misconduct.

62. Annex B shows that analysis of the OIOS Annual Reports and other official UN information has
established:

1. that all of the results of all the allegations were reported in only two reports (203/16 and
204/16),

2. that while 'performance shortcomings' by some investigators were identified, the more
serious failings were at the management level, and

3. that any suggestions that OIOS personnel might need “additional training” - or that the
allegations in Dekoa could not have been foreseen - are clearly not supported by the
evidence of the number of other allegations investigated - from that mission alone. 

36 Regardless of what is found in an OIOS investigation report, the decision as to whether or not that does constitute 
misconduct lies with the Under-Secretary-General of the Department of Management Strategy, Policy and Compliance.
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Mismanagement of the Investigations

63. On 29 March 2016, having met with UNICEF and other parties involved in the matter, the OIOS
investigator in the CAR was given just a spreadsheet with 98 names of victims, the age at time of
incident, the current age, the nationality of the perpetrator, the year of incident, the type of the
incident, and the victims’ situation with regard to being pregnant or having given birth. 37

64. Of these however, he identified only 32 victims as representing possible cases for OIOS.  

65. Given that there were no allegations against UN civilian staff, that would seem to suggest that
those were the only ones where UN peacekeepers were involved.38 The remaining 66 cases would
logically  appear  to  have  been  have  been  cases  involving  non-UN  (i.e.  French  'Sangaris')
peacekeepers. 

66. That same day - 29 March - that OIOS investigator advised his superiors that a MINUSCA fact-
finding mission would go (i.e. in the future tense) go to Dekoa, but he did not believe there was
any merit in him traveling there, suggesting instead that he   stay in the capital “to gather the
UNICEF notes of interview and information about contingent rotations, and to prepare a photo
album of possible perpetrators.”39 

67. That would seem to suggest that he was unaware of the “integrated team” from MINUSCA that
had already travelled to Dekoa on 26 March.40

Proper Preparation and Planning

68. OIOS procedures require an action plan to be prepared and approved before work is commenced
on any investigation.  This is normal practice. No investigation, even into a single allegation
against a single perpetrator on a single occasion proceeds without an action plan being approved.

69. Inexplicably, despite the facts that (1) it was clear from the outset that this would be a major
investigation,  (2)  that  it  would  be  politically  sensitive  and  (3)  that  it  was  the  first  major
investigation  into   'Sexual  Exploitation  and  Abuse'  in  UN  peacekeeping  missions  after
publication of  the  Report  of  the  Deschamps Enquiry;41 this  was  not  done for these  major
investigations in Dekoa.  

70. It also appears that the witnesses were not divided up and assigned to individual investigators,

37 Annex A. Para 26
38 OIOS Annual Report on 'Activities of the Office of Internal Oversight Services on peace operations for the period from 1 

January to 31 December 2017' (UN Document No. A-72-330 Part II dated 19 February 2018.) Para 46.(c)  Online at: 
https://undocs.org/A/72/330(Part%20II) 

39 Annex A. Para 27
40 Annex A. Para 18
41 ‘Taking Action on Sexual Exploitation and Abuse by Peacekeepers; Report of an Independent Review on Sexual 

Exploitation and Abuse by International Peacekeeping Forces in the Central African Republic.’ December 2015. Online 
at: http://www.un.org/News/dh/infocus/centafricrepub/Independent-Review- Report.pdf 
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leading to a predictable situation of investigators not knowing what they were supposed to be
doing in advance, and so not being able to prepare for their interviews. 

71. OIOS deployed a total of 31 staff members to the Central African Republic on a rotation, 21 of
whom  were  investigators  (It  follows  the  remainder  must  have  been  support  staff.)   Those
investigators  interviewed  some  435  individuals,  both  witnesses  and  complainants  over  137
days.42  If the arithmetic holds, this would give an average of over 20 interviews per investigator,
and 3.2 interviews per day.  

72. Investigators did however complain that they were under pressure to conduct a given number of
interviews  per  day43;  and  that  this  –  not  surprisingly  -  compromised  the  quality of  the
investigations; the quality that the Director had earlier said would be “critical” to unearthing the
necessary information.44 

73. It is significant that in mid-May – six weeks after the investigation began - one diligent Team
Leader had the initiative to speak to two individuals who had important information hitherto
unknown to OIOS.45 The fact that nobody had done this six weeks earlier is a serious indictment
of the OIOS Team Leaders on the ground in Bangui  . 

74. Investigators  were  also  compelled  to  work  in  very  difficult  conditions,  some  of  which  was
unavoidable, but there was clearly a serious lack of logistical support - despite the presence of the
team that appears to have included 10 “non-'P' staff.”  It follows that their role should have been
as part if the team in Bangui, the purpose of which Swanson had described as being to “make the
investigation happen”.46

75. While intervention of Investigations Director Ben Swanson and Jason Uliana was obviously very
helpful; that it was necessary in the first place is indicative of shortcomings on the part of the
Chief Resident Investigator in the MINUSCA mission who, one would expect, should have made
better arrangements prior to the arrival of the first investigators from other offices.47

Sworn Records of Interview

76. On 10 April 2016, the Team Leader in the MINUSCA mission asked the Investigations Director
Ben Swanson if investigators should follow the usual OIOS procedures, and ask victims and
witnesses to provide an oath at the beginning of their interview.  He argued, quite reasonably, that
this was not appropriate when interviewing civilian rape victims. 

42 Annex A. Para 38
43 Annex A. Para 65 sub-para [F], [G], [H], para 78 sub-para [A] 
44 Annex A. Para 35
45 Annex A. Para 48.
46 Annex A. Para 36.
47 Annex A. Paras 59 & 79
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77. Swanson replied that deviating from existing procedures would just create confusion, adding that
he was more concerned with the quality of interviews.48 

78. The UN requirements for sworn statements arises from the UN Appeals Tribunal judgement in
Nyambuza (2013-UNAT-364)49 where it was held that a witness statements taken under oath (or
affirmation) constitutes “clear and convincing evidence” of the facts stated therein, whereas one
that is not declared to be “under oath” requires some other indication of the accuracy of the
information, or, for that matter, the credibility of the witness.50

79. Be that as it may, as this investigator was clearly aware; asking a rape victim – who is not a UN
staff member – to formally declare that that they are telling the truth is likely to cause offence.
This was always foreseeable and it is precisely what happened.51 It was interpreted negatively by
witnesses and created the impression that they are being accused of wrongdoing themselves –
which is hardly likely to help establish the rapport an investigator needs to put the witness at their
ease and therefore get the most amount of useful information from them.

80. However, in answering the question,  Swanson appears to have overlooked an important point;
that the subjects of these investigations were military peacekeepers, not UN staff members. They
were subject  to the military discipline of their  respective Armed Forces, so UN policies and
procedures were of only secondary importance to what was admissible in evidence under military
law of the TCCs. 

81. What the UN Tribunals might have determined to be “admissible” for administrative purposes in
the UN internal justice system may be interesting – but it has no bearing on whether or not that
same piece of evidence will be admissible in a military tribunal of the Burundian or Gabonese
armed forces. 

82. This question never appears to have been addressed, resulting in witnesses being unnecessarily
offended or intimidated.52

Failure to Identify Fraud

83. In the course of the investigation, information was received from a local official who alleged that
a Mr. Gerard Moussa had brought a number of women to UNICEF to be registered as victims,
which he was doing for financial gain.53 

84. In order to establish whether this was fraud, two situations would have to be considered:

48 Annex A. Para 35
49 Online at: https://www.un.org/en/internaljustice/files/unat/judgments/2013-UNAT-364.pdf 
50 The prospect of a witness lying under oath to an investigator does not appear to be one that either the Appeals Tribunal or

OIOS cared to consider.
51 Annex A. Para 129
52 Annex A. Para 129
53 Annex A. Para 108
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1. If any of the women that he introduced were not, in fact, victims, they would be perpetrating 
a fraud by claiming that they were, and if Mr. Moussa was aware of the fact they were not 
victims, he would be personally implicated.

   and

2. If we assume that the women he introduced were, in fact, victims of sexual assaults; it would 
depend on whether he told them that they were obliged to pay him a commission in order to 
qualify for financial compensation.

85. Ms. Gervilla the Conduct and Discipline Chief claimed to have learned from OIOS54  “...that
many of the complaints followed a specific pattern of accusations; many of the complainants'
stories were nearly identical, lacked specific details and fell apart when probed. It appeared as
though the complainants had memorized a script.”55 

86. If that is so, it clearly indicates that the witnesses were  coached, and if their allegations were
“nearly identical” there was clearly a common source for that coaching. All of the witnesses
whose stories bore striking similarities should have been interviewed about their involvement
with Mr. Moussa or any other preparation by any other party they had received.

87. This does not appear to have been done,  because no-one appears to have been reviewing or
monitoring the interview reports in real time.

88. OIOS did, nevertheless, identify the possibility of fraud here, and shared their concerns with
UNICEF – even if only in a very small number of witnesses. For unknown reasons however, this
appears to have been done at the local level rather than by following the established procedure.56

89. Collusion among witnesses  and possibly involving NGOs in receipt  of  mission funds is  not
insignificant.  It  is  directly  relevant  to  both  the  allegations  being  investigated  by  OIOS and
financial  accountability  of  the  MINUSCA mission  in  general,  particularly  in  view  of  the
implications for how the Organization handled large scale allegations of sexual exploitation and
abuse. The allegations should have been investigated properly, and the decision to do so should
have been made by the Investigations Director himself and certainly not anyone less senior.

90. In the end, UNICEF claim to have found no evidence of collusion or corruption and so closed the

54 Her husband is OIOS Deputy Director Michale Dudley.  
55 Reuters. 'U.N. memo casts doubt on some Central African sex abuse accusations'  Tim Cocks, Michelle Nichols & 

Marine Pennetier. 11 October 2016. Online at: http://www.reuters.com/article/us-centralafrica-un-crime-exclusive-
idUSKCN12B268

56 It may be entirely co-incidental but OIOS investigator Jason Uliana, who played a leading role in the Dekoa 
investigations, was later employed by UNICEF as head of their Office of Internal Oversight and Audit. That in itself 
would not be so suspicious if he had not consented to retaining his predecessor in that post as his “Principal Adviser. See 
https://www.linkedin.com/in/jason-u-882852b/ and https://www.linkedin.com/in/kevin-curtis-b431547/ 
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case.57 Given the concerns raised by OIOS investigators, and UNICEF failure to properly collate
and assess the information they had since January 2016, and what is known about their history of
poor investigative work in other areas,58 that conclusion cannot be considered satisfactory. 

Financial Management

91. The  exact  financial  cost  of  the  investigations  was  not  known  to  the  author  of  the  review
document, but Investigations Director Ben Swanson was quoted as having said that the cost of
the operation was some US$ 481,000, a sum about equal to the entire operational and training
travel of the Investigation Division for two years.59  

92. If that is even vaguely correct, significant readjustment of budgets must have been necessary,
taking funds away from other budgets for other purposes, and is  very likely to have had an
adverse impact on other investigations, particularly if travel might have been an option. 

93. The author of the review noted that a staff member Patricia had to seek Swanson's permission to
release the financial information, and that that permission was not forthcoming before the draft
was finalised.60  While it is not impossible that that was an innocent oversight, it is probably
more likely to be interpreted negatively. 

94. The level of expenditure on this case, compared to the number of allegations (none, or very few
of them being substantiated) must be a considerable embarrassment.

DNA Evidence

95. The mishandling of DNA evidence in this case described in the report is suggestive of gross
negligence.

96. Unconfirmed rumours of DNA evidence being mishandled in this case had been circulating for
some time, and were referred to in a press article in 2018.61 It now appears that     none   of the DNA
samples collected in the course of the investigation actually produced any reliable results, and
that this was due to the incorrect collection and subsequent storage of the samples before they
were sent for analysis.62

97. There is an OIOS Protocol on 'Collection of DNA Samples'63 that was clearly not followed, even
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though it  was evident  from the UNICEF spreadsheet  that  was available from the outset  that
several of the victims had had children as a result of either relationships with, or rape by, the
subjects of the investigation.

98. While it is appreciated that the deployment of investigators was – rightly or wrongly - rushed at
the beginning of the investigation, there can be no excuse for staff rotated through the CAR later
not to have found the time to refamiliarise themselves with it.

99. Even without reference to the Protocol however, there can similarly be no excuse for specimens
were collected in Dekoa between March and May 2016 being stored in Bangui for twelve months
in what were patently inappropriate conditions.64

100. This is a further indictment of the general lack of management of the investigations, and suggests
a very serious failing on the part of the Team Leader in Bangui in particular.

101. Investigators writing the reports on their work in the CAR ought to have realised the DNA results
were missing and raised the matter long before a full year had passed.

102. The New Humanitarian reported in their article:  'Swanson, the UN’s top investigator, disputes
some of the women’s accounts. He told IRIN that DNA testing “on around 20 victims and their
children” has shown “with a high degree of confidence, that the soldiers identified were not the
fathers of the children they were alleged to be.”65   

103. How Swanson could make such a statement if none of the DNA samples taken in the course of
the investigation produced any useable results is not clear. 

104. More  seriously,  Swanson  also  admitted  to  the  New Humanitarian  journalist  that  there  were
problems with DNA evidence on “2-3 swabs”.  If the report is correct; that was patently not the
case.  It  appears  that  the  journalist's  source was not  mistaken,  leading to  the  conclusion that
Swanson had simply   lied   when interviewed by the press. 

Interviewing Standards

105. Interviewing is the most basic 'bread and butter' work of OIOS investigators, the importance of
which cannot be exaggerated. It is particularly crucial in sexual misconduct investigations where
the subject matter is acutely sensitive, there are no third party witnesses and there is no forensic
evidence.  These  investigations  very  often  come  down  to  consideration  of  contradictory
statements from the victim and the accused.  

106. The Conduct and Discipline website suggests that OIOS had conducted 117 SEA investigations,
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plus another 9 joint investigations with Troop Contributing Countries in the previous 5 years.
Interviewing victims of sex crimes could not have been an unusual occurrence, and - particularly
after the 2015 crisis – there can be little justification for poor interviewing techniques.  OIOS
investigators carry out interviews in every investigation; management cannot plausibly claim not
to have been earlier aware of the general conclusions in the review document.

Activity over Productivity

107. The review documents also describes over 100 daily situation reports being generated.66 Staff
from other duty stations were deployed to the CAR from April to September 2016 which is a
period of six months, suggesting that one such report was being sent about every second day. 

108. While  this  will  almost  certainly  have  helped  keep  the  Director  intimately  appraised  of  the
number of interviews being carried out and other logistical problems that needed to be addressed,
the greatest investigative failing in this investigation appears to have been the lack of any overall
supervision of the investigation at the operational level. There does not appear to have been any
significant  analysis  of  the  information  being  collected,  and  no  manager  with  longer  term
responsibilities for identifying strategic opportunities, establishing priorities and directing what
further information needed to be pursued. 

109. Also, the allegations in Dekoa were historic.  The only action that  OIOS might  have to take
immediately would be on a logistical matter, one would have expected direct intervention by
senior management to have resolved matters before it required 100 situation reports.

110. If those daily situation reports contained a lot of operational information about the progress of the
investigation, sending one every second day must have been an administrative burden that took
up valuable time that the senior figure on the ground should have been spending on actually
managing the investigation. If they did not, one can only wonder what value they actually were. 

Victim A : Photo Arrays & Corroboration 

111. In these investigations, as is usually the case in the UN, identification of subjects had to be done
largely  by  means  of  photo  arrays.  Where  the  victim  did  not  subsequently  give  birth  as  a
consequence  of  her  sexual  contact  with  the  subjects,  photo  arrays  were  the  only way  of
identifying the accused.67 

112. The case of 'Victim A' is particularly shocking.68  She was presented with photographs of 13
individuals, but the man she claimed had got her pregnant was not included; so she obviously
failed to identify him!69 This, apparently, was relied upon by the Burundian investigators to clear

66 Annex A. Para 63
67 Annex A. Para 138
68 Annex A. Paras 145 to 172
69 Annex A. Para 153
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the subject referred to in Annex A as “John” of rape - despite the fact that 'Victim A' had never
claimed to have been raped.70

113. On  a  second  occasion  however,  Victim  A was  shown  140  different  photographs  and  was
immediately able to recognise him.71

114. Even if the OIOS investigators present at the first interview were not responsible for producing
the first  photo array, it is clear that OIOS knew that “John”s picture was missing from the photo
array she had been shown – so at the very least there ought to have been a disagreement between
them and Burundian  investigators over John's innocence.

115. No such contrary findings are recorded.

116. Moreover, the OIOS investigators failed to follow up on Victim A's statement about having rice
from the Burundian contingent at home72, and they failed to follow up on her information about
her abortion73 and failed to follow up with the information about John's friend “Tom” knowing
about their relationship.74 

Co-Operation with NIOs

117. In the final analysis, the role of OIOS in these investigations was to support the investigations by
the military authorities of Burundi and Gabon respectively. 

118. If any troops were to be disciplined, that would have to be done under the applicable laws of
military justice of the respective NIOs. For that reason, on occasions such as this, OIOS policies
and procedures are largely of secondary importance;  the subjects were not  UN civilian staff
members and could never be disciplined by the UN.

119. TCCs have the option of inviting OIOS to conduct a “joint” investigation when one of their
troops on UN peacekeeping duties is accused of wrongdoing, and when they elect to do so, the
decision  is  likely  to be  motivated,  at  least  in  part,  by  the  desire  to  be  publicly  seen to  be
complying  with  their  obligations  to  the  UN.  The  legal  basis  for  such  “joint”  investigations
however, is contained in Terms of Reference agreed with OIOS on a case by case basis.

120. In this case however, the TOR with the Gabonese authorities does not appear to have complied
with the standard form of such agreements, and the document in the file appears to be just a two
page agreement with two fonts on each page.75

121. It serves no useful purpose to hypothesise on what legal complications might have arisen of this
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agreement was not properly executed, but it is curious that it  bore the signature of the OIOS
Team Leader not the Director. This was clearly an important legal document but one that appears
to have been executed improperly, which agains points to serious shortcomings on the part of
OIOS management.  

122. In the case of Victim A76 the OIOS investigators also failed to follow up on her statement that she
had been interviewed previously by three Burundian officers before her interview with the NIOs
and OIOS. That raises a number of questions about what the Burundian investigators were doing,
and what else they may have withheld from OIOS. It is particularly curious (if not suspicious)
that OIOS should omit this piece of information from their report.77 

123. In general, the comment from one of the investigators about the need to brief all the investigators
before they begin working on an investigation on such a scale, and “the value of having an initial
meeting with the NIOs to also compare processes and work out a modus operandi before the
investigation begins” is fundamentally obvious.78 It is, of course, very possible that somebody did
have  a  meeting  with  them  but  the  fact  this  investigator  was  unaware  of  what  was  agreed
indicates, at the very least, a failure to communicate important information. 

124. A number of other comments unfortunately indicate not just a lack of liaison with the NIOs, but
with UNICEF and other UN offices as well.79

125. OIOS  investigators  were  thrown  into  a  project  without  knowing  the  NIOs  objectives  or
understanding the legal  basis under  which they were  required to  operate.  This  has  to  be  an
indication of serious management failings on the part of OIOS. 

126. There is however another liaison question that is not addressed in the review, and that relates to
allegations against French 'Sangaris' mission troops. 

127. The initial allegations reported to UNICEF had specifically mentioned French troops80 and the
documents leaked to Code Blue about the secretary-general's meeting on 26 March 2016 made
specific reference to local civic leaders having told a MINUSCA Human Rights Officer about a
local girl being forced - by French troops - to have sex with a dog. 81 

128. In the course of the OIOS investigation, one witness - Victim F – mentioned local women being
forced  to have sex with dogs.82 Whether this information or the contact details of this witness
were ever shared with French authorities is not known. 

76 Annex A. Paras 145 to 172
77 Annex A. Para 158
78 Annex A. Para 52 sub-para [I]
79 Annex A. Para 52 sub-para [A] to [I] and [Q], 
80 Annex A. Para 13.
81 Code Blue Campaign Press release. 'Shocking new reports of peacekeeper sexual abuse in the Central African Republic'  

30 March 2016. Online at: http://www.codebluecampaign.com/press-releases/2016/3/30
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129. The Review document makes no reference to any co-operation with French authorities, which is
curious given that the scandal the previous year had involved the UN's failure to co-operate with
the French authorities when they tried to investigate allegations of child sex abuse in the CAR.

Improper Involvement of UN Conduct & Discipline 

130. The more significant feature of Reuters story about Gervilla's memo83 is that it reveals how OIOS
appear to have breached confidentiality by sharing information with her prior to completion of
the investigation.84 

131. The Conduct & Discipline website confirms that  the investigation into Burundian contingent
(0203/16) which was initiated on 30 March85 was completed in 266 days.  Simple arithmetic
therefore  puts  the  completion  date  of  those  investigations  about  mid-December,  so  the
investigations would still have been ongoing in October when Mercedes Gervilla was writing
memos trying to discredit the victims. 

132. Communication of this sort is unsurprising and has been the subject of numerous complaints that
the UN has been unwilling to address; Mercedes Gervilla is the wife of Michael Dudley, who is
the  Deputy Director  of  OIOS/ID in New York;  and both were appointed  to  their  respective
positions in a rather  controversial manner.

133. In the memo,  Gervilla also states that an OIOS fact-finding mission at the end of August had
collected  a  further  216  allegations against  Burundian,  Gabonese  and  French  military
personnel.86 

134. If this was the case, those allegations appear to have mysteriously vanished.

135. Alternatively,  if  it  was  not the  case;  it  raises  very  serious  questions  about  the  quality of
information  that  Gervilla  passes  on  to  senior  management,  and  the  extent  to  which  she  is
improperly influenced by what she learns from her husband. 

136. Moreover, there is no indication of the Investigation Director having been concerned about this
information being shared with the Conduct & Discipline Unit, despite his own Deputy being the
prime suspect and there being a history of such improper collusion in the past.

83 Reuters. 'U.N. memo casts doubt on some Central African sex abuse accusations'  Tim Cocks, Michelle Nichols & 
Marine Pennetier. 11 October 2016. Online at: http://www.reuters.com/article/us-centralafrica-un-crime-exclusive-
idUSKCN12B268

84 Reuters. 'U.N. memo casts doubt on some Central African sex abuse accusations.'  11 October 2016. Online at: 
https://af.reuters.com/article/congoNews/idAFL8N1CH5CZ 
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83 Reuters. 'U.N. memo casts doubt on some Central African sex abuse accusations'  Tim Cocks, Michelle Nichols & 
Marine Pennetier. 11 October 2016. Online at: http://www.reuters.com/article/us-centralafrica-un-crime-exclusive-
idUSKCN12B268

84 Reuters. 'U.N. memo casts doubt on some Central African sex abuse accusations.'  11 October 2016. Online at: 
https://af.reuters.com/article/congoNews/idAFL8N1CH5CZ 

85 Annex A. Para 29
86 Reuters. 'U.N. memo casts doubt on some Central African sex abuse accusations'  Tim Cocks, Michelle Nichols & 

Marine Pennetier. 11 October 2016. Online at: http://www.reuters.com/article/us-centralafrica-un-crime-exclusive-
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Security and Safety
a) Physical Security

137. The MINUSCA mission was a particularly dangerous environment.  There were fatalities among
peacekeepers87 and the mission headquarters building had come under attack88 only a few months
earlier and the violence continued when the OIOS investigation was underway.89

138. UN staff,  including obviously  OIOS investigators,  should  not  be  deployed in field  missions
without prior security training and adequate measures being put in place for their safety in the
filed. Why this does not appear to have been done in Dekoa is not clear and should be addressed.
It is indicative of serious negligence on the part of OIOS management. 

139. MINUSCA conducted a security risk assessment  on 12 April  201690,  followed by a  security
survey on 11 May 2016,91 but adequate measures were never put in place, even on a temporary
measure. Under-Secretary-General Heidi Mendoza herself visited the investigators on the ground
on an unknown date during the course of the investigation, she was accompanied by two armed
Close Protection Officers who expressed their astonishment at the lack of security.92

140. All of the subjects in these investigations had been rotated out of the mission some time earlier,
there  should  have  been  no  real  risk  of  them  interfering  with  witnesses  or  otherwise
compromising the investigation.  A delay in conducting the investigation, while not desirable,
would have been understandable and justifiable in view of the known security risks. 

141. That said, the irony is that the local peacekeeping troops still appear to have been Burundian.93

Had they failed to respond with sufficient speed had an incident occurred; they would have been
exposed to the criticism that they had no interest in preventing the OIOS investigators from being
intimidated.

142. The lack of security, which had clearly been seen by the USG herself, meant that investigators
lives were being put at risk unnecessarily.

b) Medical Health and Safety

143. There was, in addition, a serious risk to the investigators' health; of the 21 investigators who were
deployed, 8 contracted malaria, 3 of whom suffered very serious and potentially life threatening

87 MINUSCA Press Release 7 October 2015. https://minusca.unmissions.org/en/one-minusca-peacekeeper-killed-attack 
88 MINUSCA Press Release 3 October 2015. https://minusca.unmissions.org/en/armed-individuals-open-fire-front-minusca-

hq-bangui   
89 Security Council Press Statement on attack against UN Peacekeeping Mission in CAR. Ref: SC/12329-AFR/3362-

PKO/572. 18 April 2016 https://www.un.org/press/en/2016/sc12329.doc.htm 
90 Annex A. Para 73
91 Annex A. Para 74
92 Annex A. Para 76 Sub-Para [C]
93 Annex A. Para 76 Sub-Para [I] 
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strains of the disease.94  How this came about is not clear. UN Personnel should not be deployed
into field mission envirnoments without priot medical clearance. The risk of malaria in Africa is
well known but modern prophylaxis for the disease is generally effective if take properly and in
accordance with established UN procedures.

144. How so many OIOS staff became ill should be addressed, while it may have been unavoidable,
the number of cases is indicative of serious negligence on the part of OIOS management. 

145. What is less excusable, however, was OIOS management's disregard for the welfare of their staff.

146. While the Investigation Director must be excused his embarrassment for only learning about the
health  of  one  of  his  investigator  from  a  parent  who  called  him  to  inquire  about  it,  that
investigator's immediate supervisor should have no excuse for not informing him – particularly if
the investigation was still ongoing as there was clearly an ongoing health risk.  This is indicative
of very poor management on the part of their supervisor.

The Results of the OIOS Investigations 

147. On completion of an investigation into UN staff members, OIOS issued either an 'Investigation
Report'  if  misconduct  is  established,  or  a  'Closure  Report'  where  no  disciplinary  action  is
warranted.   When  investigating  military  personnel  however,  all  reports  are  described  as
'Contingent Reports' regardless of whether or not misconduct is established. 

148. Reference to 'Contingent Reports' in OIOS Annual Reports therefore show activity, but do not
allow the  Member  States  to  draw any conclusions  as  to  whether  any misconduct  was  ever
established.

149. With regard to the allegations from Dekoa however, buried in the small print in the OIOS Annual
Report for 2016 is the admission that OIOS was unable to substantiate   any   of the allegations of
misconduct against the Burundian contingent  95   and the UN Conduct & Discipline website fails to
indicate that   any   of the allegations against the Gabonese contingent were substantiated either.96 

150. What therefore appears to be batting average of    zero   out of 163 allegations, and at a financial
cost of   US$ 481,000  97     and what must have been a very substantial (but undisclosed) number of
man  hours)     is    unimpressive.   It  cannot  be  entirely  unrelated  to  the  numerous  shortcomings
identified  in  the  review  document  –  not  least  of  which  was  the  mishandling  of  the  DNA
evidence.98 

94 Annex A. Para 70
95 OIOS Annual Report for Peacekeeping activities for the year ending 31 December 2016.  UN Document No. A/71/337 

(Part II)  dated 21 February 2017. (Online at: https://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?
symbol=A/71/337(PARTII)&Lang=E) Para 57

96 https://conduct.unmissions.org/table-of-allegations 
97 Annex A. Text between paras 83 & 84
98 Annex A. Paras 175 to 179
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151. In December 2016, when the OIOS investigation was over, the UN Press Office prepared a note
for correspondents on the conduct of the OIOS investigations.99 

152. In it, they stated that 139 possible victims were interviewed. The number of “possible victims”
identified by OIOS however, was reported to be 163100. The discrepancy is not explained. 

153. As is not uncommon in the UN, the briefing note is comprised of statistics that fail to answer the
fundamental questions about the results of the investigations;“By means of photo array and/or
other corroborating evidence a total of 41 alleged perpetrators (16 from Gabon and 25 from
Burundi) were identified by 45 interviewees;  eight persons were unable to identify perpetrators
through photo array or other corroborating evidence but were able to describe some distinctive
traits; 83 were not able to identify perpetrators or provide corroborating evidence; and three
accounts  were  considered  unreliable.  A total  of  25  minors  asserted  they  had been  sexually
abused. A total of eight paternity claims were filed, including by six minors.”101

154. This states that 41 peacekeepers (16 Gabonese and 25 Burundian) had been “identified.” That
can easily be misinterpreted to mean that the allegations against them had been proved. That
interpretation is certainly reinforced by the later statement that  the names of these identified
alleged  perpetrators  had  been  “passed  to  the  national  authorities”  and  that  the  UN  had
“requested for appropriate judicial actions to ensure criminal accountability.”(sic) 

155. That, however, appears to conflict with the information on the Conduct & Discipline website
which  indicated  that,  at  least  insofar  as  the  Burundian  contingent  is  concerned,  the  OIOS
investigators found all of the allegations to be unsubstantiated; they found absolutely no sexual
exploitation and abuse, but they did find “fraternization.” 

156. In that respect, the use of the word “identified” in the Press Note suggests that the word is being
used to means just that they had been recognised by witnesses who were able to pick them out of
a photo array. 

157. The Press Office makes no reference to any DNA evidence of course as it is now clear that all of
the samples were mishandled by OIOS and rendered useless.  

158. In their  case  therefore,   the  “appropriate  judicial  actions to  ensure  criminal  accountability”
requested by the UN appears to relate  to nothing more serious than buying drinks for  local
women and possibly asking them to dance. 

159. OIOS does not appear to have established    any   sexual misconduct in Dekoa; and this Review

99 UN Note to Correspondents on the investigations into allegations of sexual exploitation and abuse against peacekeepers 
deployed in the Central African Republic. 5 December 2016. Online at: https://www.un.org/sg/en/content/sg/note-
correspondents/2016-12-05/note-correspondents-investigations-allegations-%E2%80%8E-sexual  

100 Annex A. Footnote 3 on page 1.
101 UN Note to Correspondents supra
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appears to indicate that the reason for this must, at least in part, be attributed to performance
shortcomings on the part of OIOS investigators and more importantly; managers.

160. As  for  the  activities  of  the  Burundian  and  Gabonese  authorities,  the  Press  Note  states:
“Responsibility for further investigations lies with Burundi and Gabon. The United Nations has
requested from the Burundian and Gabonese authorities that they review the OIOS findings and
conduct the interviews of the alleged perpetrators who had all been rotated out from Central
African Republic before the allegations surfaced. The United Nations has asked for a copy of the
final national investigation reports to be transmitted urgently.”102 (Emphasis added) 

161. This makes it quite clear that OIOS involvement was limited to interviewing witnesses - and it is
now clear that that was done very badly. 

162. It  is  not  unusual  in  “joint”  investigations that  the  military  NIOs will  interview the  military
personnel and OIOS interview the civilian witnesses (usually with the NIOs observing.) 

163. On this occasion, however, it is clear that OIOS could not present any viable cases of sexual
misconduct  on  the  strength  of  the  witness  interviews  that  they  carried  out.  The  OIOS
investigations were nevertheless closed, even though the Burundian and Gabonese investigations
continued.  This  would  explain  why,  in  2018,  OIOS  issued  an  addendum to  0204/16.103  It
suggests that the Gabonese came back to OIOS with a request  for more information from a
witness. 

164. This is only to be expected. A peacekeeper accused of misconduct might have a plausible excuse
for how he was identified (e.g. “I asked her to sew my uniform after it got torn and then she
wanted more money as we agreed, so we argued...” or “She pestered me for a drink in the bar
and was offended when I would not buy her one...”)  When this happens, it is necessary to re-
interview the witness. 

165. Swanson was quoted in  the New Humanitarian article  as saying:  “This  revisionist  approach
which seeks to rubbish [our investigators’ work in Dekoa] and attack OIOS is as repulsive as it is
unwelcome.”104  The irony, of course, is that it  was Swanson who commissioned the internal
review of the investigations, it was his leadership that was inadequate and it was he who failed to
take any management action against any of the supervisors or investigators whose professional
shortcomings were exposed in the investigations that he denied were flawed.  

166. While he may well consider any criticism of his office and of his own management abilities to be

102 UN Note to Correspondents supra
103 See Table A above.
104 Philip Kleinfeld “Special report on the Central African Republic, Part 3. ‘I have no power to complain” The New 

Humanitarian. 25 July 2018. Online at: https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/special-report/2018/07/25/central-african-
republic-peacekeeper-sexual-abuse-investigation 
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repulsive and  unwelcome;  the  conclusion to  be  drawn is  that  OIOS/ID,  which has been the
subject of numerous scandals covered up by senior management, appears to be unfit for their
function. 

Options for Reform

167. In his report to the General Assembly on 27 September 2017, the Secretary-General wrote: “The
implementation of my strategy to combat sexual exploitation and abuse and our strengthened
whistleblower  policy  will  be  greatly  enhanced  by  our  ability  to  conduct  robust  and  timely
investigations.  OIOS is an important partner in those efforts. I encourage Member States to
mandate an external review of the mandate and capacity of the Office, focusing on its functions
in the areas of auditing, investigation and evaluation.”105 (Emphasis added) 

168. It is clear that the Organization has no interest in instructing such an “external review” nor is the
Secretary-General  interested  in  pursuing  complaints  of  misconduct  by  the  Investigations
Director106. 

169. A number of management reviews of the OIOS Investigations Division have been conducted in
the past, all facilitated by the then Department of Management, none of which has addressed the
management  problems  therein.  On  the  contrary,  the  Department  of  Management  was  been
complicit  in  protecting  key  individuals  in  OIOS/ID despite  overwhelming  evidence  of  their
mismanagement, and other wrongdoing.  

170. The mishandling of the Dekoa investigations is not an anomaly.  Senior management of the UN
has been wilfully blind to numerous personal and performance shortcomings on the part of senior
staff in the OIOS Investigation Division and have been content to protect them from any form of
accountability for at least ten years.  

171. The  current  Under-Secretary-General  of  Management  Strategy,  Policy  and  Compliance  –
Catherine  Pollard  –  has  been  personally  involved  in  protecting  individuals  in  the  OIOS
Investigation Division accused of serious wrongdoing.

172. She  refused to provide information107 about the financial cost of settling a number of UNDT
cases that resulted in the Organization had to settle because decisions were made on the strength
of  fundamentally  unsound  investigations  by  an  identified  clique  of  OIOS investigators  who
enjoyed her protection.  

173. She was also complicit in the misuse of a considerable amount of money on an unwarranted

105 Report of the Secretary-General. 'Shifting the management paradigm in the United Nations: ensuring a better future for 
all' UN Document No.  A/72/492. Online at  https://undocs.org/A/72/492. Para 62

106 e.g. complaint against Investigations Director Ben Swanson and others for misconduct in the course of the UNDT hearing
in Nouinou -v- Secretary-General (UNDT/2018/070) dated 22 August 2018 

107 Requested by then Investigation Director on 20 June 2014
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investigation into a bad faith complaint against that former Investigations Director, also for the
benefit of these same individuals.108   

174. This  protection,  acknowledged  by  a  previous  Under-Secretary-General,  raises  very  serious
questions  about  what  benefit  is  being  enjoyed in  return,  and  fundamentally  undermines  the
“operational  independence” that OIOS was established to exercise.109 

175. A further review of the investigations in Dekoa would be costly and ultimately serve no useful
purpose, nor would any  internal review of the operations of the OIOS Investigation Division
carried  out  under  the  auspices  of  the  Department  of  Management  Strategy,  Policy  and
Compliance.

A more  comprehensive  and  totally    external   review  by  the  member  states,  addressing  all  the
managerial  and  investigative  shortcomings  in  the  office  over  the  last  ten  years  is  clearly
warranted.  

ANNEXES

Annex A: OIOS internal review of the Dekoa Investigations 

Annex B: Identification of the Dekoa investigations & OIOS/ID's previous experience of Sexual  
Exploitation and Abuse in the MINUSCA Mission.

108 UNDT Order No.185 (NY/2015). Online at: https://www.un.org/en/internaljustice/files/undt/orders/ny-2015-185.pdf 
109 A/Res/48/218-B dated 12 August 1994. Online at: https://undocs.org/a/res/48/218B 
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Annex A
OIOS Review of the Dekoa Investigation

(OIOS Case numbers 0203/16 and 0204/16) 

Note: This document is clearly incomplete and is marked 'Draft'. 

Although finished in early 2017, it appears that:

1. the author was denied certain information, notably with regard to the financial cost 
of the operation, and

2. no final version was ever produced, nor were the findings ever made known, either 
to the investigators who worked in the investigations, or their supervisors

Annex A
OIOS Review of the Dekoa Investigation

(OIOS Case numbers 0203/16 and 0204/16) 

Note: This document is clearly incomplete and is marked 'Draft'. 

Although finished in early 2017, it appears that:

1. the author was denied certain information, notably with regard to the financial cost 
of the operation, and

2. no final version was ever produced, nor were the findings ever made known, either 
to the investigators who worked in the investigations, or their supervisors



This document was obtained from a confidential source 
in September 2019.  Other information from the same 
source was corroborated and found to be credible.

Although clearly identified as a “First Draft” this is 
believed to be the version of the document shared with 
other senior officials in OIOS. 

Annotations by Peter A Gallo. 



This is believed to be a typo, the correct date being 2017





What exactly had UNICEF 
been doing since January?

Child Protection Officer?

No investigators

Why was this not done BEFORE?

See para 27 below 



i.e 30 March

See para 18 
above



OIOS Investigations Director Ben Swanson 

Jason Uliana.  Chief Investigations Section, 
OIOS/ID Nairobi Regional Office

Swanson Uliana



It appears his suggestion at Para 27 above was over-ruled

This suggestion appears to overlook the fact that it would be the TCCs 
who had primary jurisdiction here



This indicates advance knowledge of “administrative and logistical challenges” having 
to be resolved - and which clearly were not yet addressed several months later..
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8 out of 21 investigators deployed = 38%
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Why not sooner? When did Child Protective Services first hear this and did anyone give a formal statement about it?

This must affect 
the credibility of 
the witnesses.
Why was it removed from the final investigation reports?

Does this mean that 
the Mission filtered 
out some potential 
witnesses who were 
not then interviewed 
by OIOS?



Were these 
statements 
provided to 
OIOS?

Was this information 
shared with the ‘Special 
Co-ordinator on
the UN’s 
response to 
SEA?

Has this risk 
been considered 
and have new 
policies been 
implemented to 
identify / prevent 
fraud in the 
assessment of 
later SEA 
complaints?



Was this ever 
investigated?
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An OIOS 
protocol on 
collecting DNA 
evidence does 
exist. 

Lack of training is 
hardly an excuse for 
leaving DNA samples 
out in the heat for 
months.  
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Names redacted here to protect the anonymity of victims and witnesses   
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Given the number of previous investigations that OIOS had done over the last 10 
years that involved “vulnerable victims” - is there any excuse for investigators 
needing additional training in this very basic investigative skill?

  



Even without an 
official OIOS 
protocol on the 
subject; can there 
be any excuse for 
this?
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who had been appointed BEFORE news of 
the allegations from Dekoa were received 

Jane Holl Lute - 

cannot be held 
responsible for 
gross ineptitude 
on the part of 
OIOS investigators

What does this say about the Organization’s attitude towards the                        of sexual offences?investigation



Investigations Director Ben Swanson

Was this review ever shared with them?
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Identification of the Dekoa investigations & OIOS/ID's previous 
experience of Sexual  Exploitation & Abuse in the MINUSCA Mission.

The first challenge here was identifying the Dekoa investigations from all the other SEA investigations.

OIOS Annual Reports on their activities in peacekeeping operations for the calendar years 20161, 20172

and  20183,  OIOS  refers  to  a  large
number  of  investigations  involving
military  personnel  in  the  MINUSCA
mission initiated in 2016.

OIOS  case  numbers  are  assigned  in
numerical  order,  so  any  case  number
lower than 203 from the year 2016 must
pre-date the initial reports of the rapes in
Dekoa. 

This  leaves  only  24  reports,  two  of
which (203/16 and 204/16) relate to the
allegations of sexual misconduct by the
Burundian and Gabonese contingents in
Dekoa.  Those  were  not,  however,  the
only SEA  complaints  from  the
MINUSCA  mission  investigated  by
OIOS in 2016.

Taken  together,  therefore,  the  statistics
suggest  that  of  all  the  allegations
received4,  including the 163 allegations
from  Dekoa  -  only  22 resulted  in  the
conduct  of  specific  individuals  being
established to be misconduct.

Of those 163 allegations, of course there
is  no  indication  of  how many  (if  any)
turned out to relate to French 'Sangaris' 

Table A
OIOS Annual Reports for Peacekeeping activities; 
Contingent Reports re SEA in MINUSCA Mission reported 
in 2016, broken down by Calendar Years 

2016 2017 2018
0001/16 0007/16 Addendums to:
0034/16 0008/16 0204/16*
0036/16 0042/16 0349/16*
0075/16 0113/16 0411/16*
0076/16 0116/16

0077/16 0118/16 ! Case numbers
shaded in grey pre-
date initiation of the

Dekoa
investigations

0078/16 0119/16 
0079/16 0120/16
0080/16 0121/16
0081/16 0128/16
0203/16 0196/16 
0204/16 0197/16 

1) 0216/16 2) 0208/16 
3) 0349/16 4) 0210/16
5) 0350/16 6) 0211/16 
7) 0373/16 8) 0212/16 
9) 0411/16 10) 0213/16 
11) 0412/16 12) 0217/16
13) 0413/16 14) 0414/16

15) 0504/16 
16) 0525/16
17) 0525/16 
18) 0527/16
19) 0570/16 
20) 0578/16 
21) 0600/16 
22) 0676/16

 troops who were entirely outside OIOS (and indeed UN) jurisdiction.

1 OIOS Annual Report for Peacekeeping activities for 2016. UN Document No. A/71/337 (Part II)  dated 21 February 
2017. (Online at: https://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/71/337(PARTII)&Lang=E) Para 55

2 OIOS Annual Report for Peacekeeping activities for 2017.  UN Document No. A/72/330 (Part II) dated 19 February 
2018. (Online at: https://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/72/330(PARTII)&Lang=E)  Para 46

3 OIOS Annual Report for Peacekeeping activities for 2018.  UN Document No. A/73/324 (Part II)  dated 13 February 
2019. (Online at: https://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/73/324(PartII)&Lang=E) Para 67 
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In their Annual Report, OIOS does not identify the nationality of the subject, whereas the Conduct and
Discipline website always does so - but trying to correlate the two is very difficult. 

Table A above (extracted from OIOS Annual Reports) shows  22 cases, all of described as  'sexual
exploitation and abuse by Peacekeepers' and all from the MINUSCA mission alone, that were reported
after the Dekoa reports about the Burundian and Gabonese peacekeepers in March 2013 and, more
importantly; a further 22 (shaded) which pre-date 203/16.
If the UN's statistics were consistent, and the figures from the Conduct & Discipline website can be
relied upon, one would expect the Conduct & Discipline website to reflect OIOS having investigated
22 cases involving 'sexual exploitation and abuse by peacekeeping troops in MINUSCA in 2016 before
203/16 was opened on 30 March that year.

Testing that hypothesis by reference to the figures from the Conduct & Discipline website however
shows something different.

Table B OIOS and joint OIOS/TCC Investigations into sexual misconduct by peacekeeping 
troops in MINUSCA reported January to March 2016. (Source: Conduct & Discipline website)

Date Subjects
Victims Allegation InvestigationReported (Incident) Number Nationality

1. 3/2016 Mar 16 4 Burundi Child Rape Joint  (534 days)

2. 3/2016 Feb 16 1 Morocco Adult Exploitation Joint  (609 days)

3. 2/2016 Nov 15 1 Congo DRC Child Rape OIOS  (392 days)

4. 2/2016 ??? 2015 1 Congo DRC Child Rape OIOS  (452 days)

5. 2/2016 ??? 2015 1 Congo DRC Child Rape OIOS  (452 days)

6. 2/2016 Dec 14 - ?? 2015 1 Congo DRC Child Rape OIOS (337 days)   }

7. 2/2016 Nov 15 1 Congo DRC Child Rape OIOS (337 days)   }

8. 2/2016 June 15 1 Congo DRC Child Rape OIOS (337 days)   }

9. 2/2016 2014 - 2015 1 Congo DRC Child Rape OIOS (337 days)   }

10. 1/2016 May - Aug 15 1 Congo DRC Child Rape OIOS (429 days)

11. 1/2016 Jan 14 1 Morocco Child Rape Joint (707 days)

12. 1/2016 Jul – Oct 14 4 Niger Children (2) Rape OIOS (702 days)

13. 1/2016 2014-15 10  Morocco Children (5) Rape Joint (286 Days)

How 13 investigations, involving what appears to be 28 individuals and 18 victims can result in 22
contingent reports is not clear. 

There is also another anomaly, which relates to whether one complaint results in one report regardless
of the number of individuals accused, or one report relates to allegations against one individual.

In the author's experience in OIOS the normal practice was always the latter, but there were instances
where a number of similar allegations against  the same individual,  all  of sexual misconduct,  were

4 Annex A.  Footnote 3 
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investigated separately and not as a pattern of behaviour, resulting in a number of reports.

OIOS's  investigated  the  allegations  from  Dekoa,  which  involved  numerous  allegations  against
numerous individuals, as two cases because the subjects were from two different military contingents.

Such  inconsistencies  only  help  obfuscate  the  statistics  and  misrepresent  the  extent  of  the  sexual
exploitation and abuse problem in the UN. 

Table A above also indicates there were 22 OIOS contingent reports relating to the MINUSCA Mission
from 2016 that are numbered after 203/16. 

Once again however, the statistics to not correlate. Table C below, extracted from the Conduct and
Discipline website, indicates there should be 14 investigations involving (probably) 27 subjects and 19
victims.

How that could result in 22 OIOS reports is not clear.

Table C OIOS and joint OIOS/TCC Investigations into sexual misconduct by peacekeeping 
troops in MINUSCA reported after Dekoa allegations (Source: Conduct & Discipline website)

Date Subjects
Victims Allegation InvestigationReported (Incident) Number Nationality

1 10/2016 Oct 15 – Mar 16 ? Unknown5 Adult Rape

2 9/2016 May 16 1 Morocco Adult Sexual assault Joint (132 days)

3 11/2016 Sep 16 1 Congo (the) Adult Soliciting Joint 

4 10/2016 Aug 16 1 Mauritania Child Rape Joint (68 Days)

5 7/2016 Sep-Oct 14 4 Morocco Adults (2) Transactional sex Joint (154 Days)

6 6/2016

Oct 15 1

Burundi 

Adult Transactional sex

Joint (51 days)
??? 2015 3 ? (2) rape

?? 2015 3 Child Exploitation 

?? 2015 3 Child Sexual activity 

7 6/2016 May 16 2 Burundi Children (2) Rape Joint (81 days)

8 4/2016 2014 / 2015 1 Congo (the) Adult Transactional sex OIOS (245 days)

9 4/2016 Nov 14 – Nov 15 1 Congo DRC Child Rape OIOS (219 days)

10 4/2016 ??? 2105 1 Congo DRC Child Rape OIOS (253 days)

11 4/2016 Nov 14 – Nov 15 1 Congo DRC Child Rape OIOS (253 days)

12 4/2016 ??? 2015 1 Congo DRC Child Rape OIOS (253 days)

13 4/2016 ??? 2015 1 Congo DRC Child Rape OIOS (253 days)

5 This is one of very few instances where the Conduct & Discipline website has listed an allegation against an unknown 
perpetrator. The practice appears to be that if the victim is unable to identify her assailant, the UN considers there is 
insufficient evidence to warrant an investigation.  This, obviously, enables the Organization to conceal the total number 
of allegations that are received – and which they are therefore obligated to investigate and report to the General 
Assembly under A/Res/57/306. Para 10. (http://www.un.org/Docs/journal/asp/ws.asp?m=A/RES/57/306 )
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14 4/2016 Mar 16 1 Congo (the) Child Rape OIOS (365 days)

  

Obfuscation  may  not  be  the  Organization's  official  policy  towards  the  scale  of  the  rape  crisis  in
peacekeeping missions, but it is certainly not discouraged either. 

What is notable, however, is that Table B shows a total of 18 victims, of whom 17 were children, and
Table C show a total of 19 victims, of whom at least 11 were children.

OIOS  had  conducted  investigations  into  sexual  misconduct  by  28  military  peacekeepers  in  the
MINUSCA mission  alone, and all  prior to the 98 rape cases in Dekoa reported at the end of March
2016,  so it  was therefore  clear  at  the time that  the group at  most  risk from sexual  abuse by UN
peacekeepers in the Central African Republic were children.  

A total  of 21 professional grade investigators were deployed to the Central  African Republic  and
rotated in an out of Dekoa between April and September 2016.6

Clearly, not all were rushed in on the very first day. There was therefore sufficient time for OIOS
management to ensure that any of those investigators who had little prior experience of interviewing
victims of sex crimes – particularly child victims – could be rushed through some basic training on the
subject. This was patently not done, which is a further indication of negligence on the part of OIOS.   

Criticisms of the competence, poor investigative skills and general lack of experience of OIOS
investigators in the review document must therefore be considered in the context of what was
clearly a significant amount of previous experience.
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